THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC03-286

JACKSON COUNTY HOSPITAL CORPORATION d/b/a JACKSON HOSPITAL and BAY ANESTHESIA, INC.

Defendants/Appellants,

VS.

DARLENE ALDRICH AND MICHAEL CONIGLIO AS CO-PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES OF THE ESTATE OF WILLIAM E. RODDENBERRY, JR., ON BEHALF OF THE ESTATE AND SURVIVORS,

Plaintiffs/Appellees.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Lower Tribunal Case Numbers: 1D01-4079, 1D01-4042 Lower Tribunal Filing Date: 2/17/03

APPELLANT BAY ANESTHESIA, INC.'S BRIEF

A.	FACTS
II.	SUM	IMARY OF ARGUMENT
	A.	The District Court of Appeal for the First District
	В.	The District Court of Appeal erred when it
	C.	The District Court of Appeal erred when it affirmed, 6 without discussion, the challenge to the Trial Court's decision to exclude the testimony of an important expert for Bay Anesthesia.
	D.	The District Court of Appeal erred when it held that

III.	ARG	GUMENT
	A.	The standard of liability set forth in §768.13(b)
	B.	The lower court erred in holding as a matter of law
	C.	The Trial Court abused its discretion when it
	D.	The Court misconstrued or misapplied Southern Bell
CON	ICLUS	SION
CER	TIFIC	ATE OF SERVICE
CER	TIFIC	ATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

<u>bdala v. World Omni Leasing, Inc.,</u>
Ass'n for Retarded Citizens - Volusia, Inc. v. Fletcher,
<u>eebe v. Richardson,</u>
<u>arson v. Miller,</u>
denatus v. Naples Community Hospital, Inc.,
Sity of Jacksonville v. Continental Can Co.,
duker v. Hillsborough County Hospital Authority,
2' Amario v. Ford Motor Company,
Delgardo v Allstate Ins. Co.,
lder v. Farulla,
Department of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, Inc.,

Florida Department of Business and Professional Regulation,
Investment Corp. of Palm Beach, 747 So.2d 374 (Florida 1999)
<u>Gross v. Lyons,</u>
<u>Harriman v. Interstate Com. Comm.</u> ,
<u>Hiers v Mitchell,</u>
<u>Holly v. Auld,</u> 11, 12 450 So.2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984)
<u>Hunte v. Blumental,</u>
Jackson County Hospital Corp., et al. v. Aldrich,
<u>Johnson v. State</u> ,
<u>Knights Templars' & Masons' Life Indemnity Co. v. Jarman,</u>
<u>Letzer v. Cephas,</u>
<u>M.W. v. Davis</u> ,
<u>Perkins v. State</u> ,

<u>Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Lopez,</u>
<u>Regency Towers Owners Ass'n, Inc. v. Pettigrew,</u>
Reyka v. Halifax Hospital District,
<u>St. Petersburg Bank and Trust Co. v Hamm,</u>
Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph v. Florida
State Board of Accountancy v. Webb,
State Department of Insurance v. Key Title and Abstract Company, Inc.,
<u>State ex rel. West v. Gray,</u>
<u>Stoll v. Noel,</u>
<u>Stuart v. Hertz Corp.</u> ,
<u>United States v. Delaware & Hudson Co.,</u>
<u>United States v. Jin Fuey Moy,</u>

<u>Van Pelt v. Hilliard,</u>
<u>Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. McDonald,</u>
<u>Weber v. Dobins,</u>
<u>Wilson v. Crews,</u>
Zigman v. Kline,
STATUTES
Chapter 88-1, §45(2), Laws of Florida
Chapter 395, Laws of Florida
Chapter 458, Laws of Florida
Chapter 459, Laws of Florida
Chapter 460, Laws of Florida
Chapter 461, Laws of Florida
Chapter 466, Laws of Florida
§440.02, Florida Statutes
§464.012(3), Florida Statutes
§768.13, Florida Statutes
§768.13(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1988)

§768.13(2)(b)(1), Florida Statutes
§768.135, Florida Statutes
§768.28, Florida Statutes (1993)
§768.81, Florida Statutes (1992)
§768.81(2), Florida Statutes
RULES
Florida Admin. Code R. 64B9-4.010(1)
Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary (1983)
Black's Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition
Human Rights Act of 1977, §23.161 (Now §760.02 et seq.)

I. SUMMARY OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

This case is here on appeal from a judgment based upon a verdict rendered in a wrongful death action. Said judgment was reviewed by the District Court of Appeal for the First District of Florida. <u>Jackson County Hospital Corp.</u>, et al. v. Aldrich, 835 So.2d 318 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). It is from that decision that the jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v) Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

A. FACTS

On the morning of February 14, 1997 William Roddenbery, Jr. was critically burned over 85% of his body by an explosion and fire in his workplace when he applied a torch to a fifty-five gallon drum containing some unknown quantity of lacquer thinner. (T. 1858 – 1898). He was ultimately transported by Fire and Rescue to the emergency room of Jackson County Hospital, Mariana, Florida. (T. 603 – 626). Once delivered to the emergency room, Mr. Roddenbery was attended by a team of health care providers, including an emergency room physician, two surgeons, nurses, respiratory therapists, and a nurse anesthetist. The nurse anesthetist was Theresa Cruce. She provided anesthesia services to the hospital pursuant to a contract between Bay Anesthesia, Inc. and the hospital. (T. 2210, 2288 – 2290). This entire team of health care professionals was under the direction of the emergency room

physician, Dr. John Brent Griffin. Specifically, with respect to Theresa Cruce, the extent or scope of the supervision exercised by Dr. Griffin was extensive. It included the necessity for intubation, the decision to have Ms. Cruce perform the intubation, the method of intubation, the route of intubation, the choice of a paralytic and the efforts to confirm proper placement of the airway, the endotracheal tube. (T. 2482 – 2495). Dr. Griffin was an employee of the hospital, and the hospital was a governmental institution entitled to the limitation of liability contained in §768.28. Consequently Dr. Griffin was not a named defendant at trial.

This case went to trial against Jackson County Hospital Corporation and Bay Anesthesia, Inc. Jackson County Hospital's liability was defined at trial as vicarious for the acts of Dr. Griffin. Bay Anesthesia's liability was defined at trial as vicarious for the acts of Theresa Cruce. The gravamen of the plaintiff's view of liability was that the intubation was an esophageal intubation rather than a proper tracheal intubation, and that caused the patient's death.

At trial the jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff finding that Dr. Griffin was guilty of reckless indifference and that Theresa Cruce was guilty of negligence.

On appeal, Bay Anesthesia argued that the trial court erred in the following respects:

- 1. It refused to apply the emergency room/trauma center standard of care set forth in §768.13(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1988) to Theresa Cruce.
- 2. It erred in holding that as a matter of law §768.81, Florida Statutes (1992) did not apply to permit the jury to consider the acts of negligence that caused the critical injuries that required emergency room treatment in this wrongful death case.
- 3. The trial court erred in excluding the testimony of one of the petitioner's defense experts.
- 4. The plaintiff/appellee filed a cross appeal arguing that if either defendant prevailed in its appeal, but the other defendant did not, that the non-prevailing defendant would be responsible for 100% of the plaintiff's damages.

With respect to the appeal filed by Bay Anesthesia, Inc., the First District Court of Appeal, in a divided decision, decided that §768.13(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1988) did not apply to a contract nurse anesthetist providing a critically burned patient an artificial airway, in the emergency room, under the direction of the hospital's emergency room physician. The appellate court affirmed without citation or discussion on the second and third issues raised by Bay Anesthesia. The appellate court also held that Bay Anesthesia would be responsible for 100% of plaintiff's damages below, because it found as a matter of law Dr. Griffin could not be found guilty of reckless indifference and that his conduct could not be deemed a legal cause

of the death of William Roddenberry, because the credible evidence was that Roddenberry could not have survived his injuries. The First District Court of Appeals certified the following as a question of great public importance:

"Whether medical emergency care providers who are not employed by hospitals licensed under Chapter 395 and who are not licensed to practice medicine but who render care within the emergency room or trauma centers of such hospitals enjoy civil immunity pursuant to §768.13(2)(b)(1), Florida Statutes, unless such care evinces a reckless disregard for the life or health of another."

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. The District Court of Appeal for the First District of Florida failed to properly interpret §768.13(2)(b), Florida Statutes (1988).

Although the lower court acknowledged that the legislative intent was "to 'promote the availability of emergency medical care by providing immunity from civil liability to hospitals and trauma centers and the medical emergency care providers rendering care therein to emergency care patients . . . see Ch. 88-1 §45(2) Laws of Florida." the Court determined that it could not give effect to that legislative intent because of what it deemed to be the clear language of the Statute. It is submitted that the language is clear and includes any health care provider such as Theresa Cruce within the meaning of the term "any person licensed to practice medicine". The Court also should have found that Therese Cruce is within the protected class of the Statute

as "an employee of such facility" [hospital], because of the extent of control exercised by the hospital over her conduct in this resuscitation, and because the term "employee" is broad enough to be accorded a meaning consistent with the acknowledged intention of the legislature. To interpret the Statute so as to deny this nurse anesthetist the protection of the Statute, because of her employment relationship with Bay Anesthesia, frustrated the acknowledged purpose of the legislature.

The nurse anesthetist is indistinguishable in every material respect from every employee of the hospital acting in this resuscitation. As such, she should have been accorded the equal protection of this Statute. The District Court of Appeals failed to apply the proper two prong standard in evaluating Bay Anesthesia's contention that an interpretation of the Statute denying or withholding its application from this nurse anesthetist would be a violation of her right to equal protection under the law.

B. The District Court of Appeal erred when it affirmed the Trial Court's decision to prohibit the jury from considering the decedent's negligence in producing the injury that was, in and of itself, sufficient to cause his death.

The First District Court of Appeals did not discuss this element of the appeal but affirmed the trial court without discussion. In passing Florida Statute §768.81 (1992) the Legislature modified pre-existing case law by establishing, as the policy of Florida, that when multiple tortfeasors contribute to the production of an indivisible injury, then the recovery against any one of those tortfeasors for the intangible portion

of the damages should be limited to that tortfeasors' percentage of negligence when compared with the negligence of all other negligent parties contributing to the injury. In order to accomplish the legislative purpose for this statute, the term "each party liable" should be interpreted to mean each party liable for "the injury". When the injury is one that would commonly result in death absent successful medical resuscitation, and the medical health care provider is alleged to have provided that medical resuscitation negligently, the person or persons causing the original injury and the subsequent medical health care provider should be treated as "joint tortfeasors" for purposes of \$768.81 Florida Statutes. If, for some conceptual reason, such parties are deemed concurrent tortfeasors, then this statute should be interpreted and applied to concurrent tortfeasors who can both be said to have produced an injury which could independently have resulted in the decedent's death.

C. The District Court of Appeal erred when it affirmed, without discussion, the challenge to the Trial Court's decision to exclude the testimony of an important expert for Bay Anesthesia.

The Trial Court's decision on this issue denied the defendant due process, because it excluded an expert witness on the grounds that a prior expert could have testified on the matters for which the expert was being offered. The trial court provided no forewarning that it would impose such a limitation, leaving the defendant without the ability to have the jury consider evidence beneficial to the defense. As

previously noted, the decedent suffered extraordinary burns involving approximately 85% of his body. The importance of various observations and medical tests such as arterial blood gas and blood studies were pivotal on the issue of causation and survivability of the injury. Bay Anesthesia offered the testimony of two experts who had had extensive experience in caring for severely burned patients. The first, Dr. Luterman, did testify and offered opinions as to the factors contributing to the death of William Roddenberry, Jr. Specifically, his testimony focused on the severity of Mr. Roddenberry's burns and the severity of the inhalation injury that he suffered. Dr. David Mozingo of the University of Florida was then called to the stand. Because Dr. Mozingo's qualifications were essentially similar to those of Dr. Luterman, Dr. Mozingo was not allowed to testify, though his proferred testimony was on a point different than the points to which Dr. Luterman testified. Specifically, Dr. Mozingo was asked to testify as to the general survivability of patients with burn injuries such as William Roddenberrys. He would have offered the opinion that even if Mr. Roddenberry had been successfully delivered to the burn center unit at Shands Hospital as opposed to the small county hospital in Madison, his chances of survival would have been less than 10%. Dr. Mozingo's opinion would have been helpful to the jury in determining disputed issues regarding survivability of patients with burn injuries as extensive as those suffered by Mr. Roddenberry, and would have been

helpful to the Court in determining the applicability of Florida Statute §768.81. It was inappropriate and prejudicial for the court to deprive the jury and Bay Anesthesia, Inc. of this testimony. In doing so, the court abused its discretion.

D. The District Court of Appeal erred when it held that Bay Anesthesia must bear 100% of the damages without a new trial.

When the First District Court of Appeal held that the trial court should have granted a directed verdict to Jackson County Hospital, it also held that Bay Anesthesia would be liable for all of the plaintiffs' damages. For support of that holding the court relied upon Southern Bell Telephone & Telegraph v. Florida Department of Transportation, 668 So.2d 1039 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996).

Since the court's decision in favor of Jackson County Hospital was not based upon a finding that Jackson County Hospital was not negligent, but instead upon a finding that it was not guilty of "reckless disregard", the holding of <u>Southern Bell</u>, *supra*, does not apply.

III. ARGUMENT

A. The standard of liability set forth in §768.13(2)(b) is applicable to a contract nurse functioning under the direction of the hospital's

emergency room physician in providing emergency room care to a severely injured patient.

The pertinent language of the statute in question is as follows:

"Any hospital licensed under Chapter 395, any employee of such hospital working in a clinical area within the facility and providing patient care, and any person licensed to practice medicine who in good faith renders medical care or treatment necessitated by a sudden, unexpected situation or occurrence resulting in a serious medical condition demanding immediate medical attention, for which the patient entered the hospital through its emergency room or trauma center, shall not be held liable for any civil damages as a result of such medical care or treatment, unless such damages resulted from providing, or failing to provide, medical care or treatment under circumstances demonstrating a reckless disregard for the consequences so as to effect the life or health of another."

The protection afforded by this statute should encompass Theresa Cruce for the following two reasons. First, the acknowledged intention of the legislature requires it and there is nothing in the literal language of the statute that prohibits it. Secondly, it would be a violation of the right to equal protection under law to deny application of the statute's protection to Therese Cruce. As previously noted, the emergency room physician, Dr. Griffin, was an employee of the defendant hospital. In this circumstance he exercised direct and extensive control over the conduct of Therese Cruce. It was at his request that an endo tracheal intubation was to be performed. He selected the method of intubation (rapid sequence). He insisted that Therese Cruce

utilize the oral route of intubation (as opposed to the nasal route). He determined that this should be a rapid sequence intubation as opposed to an awake intubation. He selected the paralytic agent (zemuron) and he participated directly in the efforts to confirm the proper placement of the endo tracheal tube. (T. 2482 – 2495). Ms. Cruce was, in effect, an extension of the emergency room physician, acting upon his order to intubate the patient, and using his methods. Furthermore, as a certified registered nurse anesthetist, Ms. Cruce was obliged by law to function under the general supervision of a physician or dentist. Florida Admin. Code R. 64B9-4.010(1). Florida Statutes §464.012(3) provides that all types of advanced registered nurse practitioners are to perform the functions permitted by that statute under the supervision of a practitioner licensed under Chapter 458, Chapter 459 or Chapter 466 (i.e., medical and osteopathic physicians and dentists). Dr. Griffin was Theresa Cruce's supervising physician in this resuscitation.

In <u>Florida Department of Business and Professional Regulation</u>, <u>Division of Pari-Mutual Wagering v. Investment Corp. of Palm Beach</u>, 747 So.2d 374 (Florida 1999) this court reviewed three of the rules most commonly employed in statutory interpretation. The court said:

In summarizing our methods of statutory construction, we have often recited:

[L]egislative intent controls construction of statutes in Florida. Moreover, 'that intent is determined primarily from the language of the statute [and]...[t]he plain meaning of the statutory language is the first consideration.' St. Petersburg Bank and Trust Co. v Hamm, 414 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1982) (citation omitted). This Court consistently has adhered to the plain meaning rule in applying statutory and constitutional provisions. See Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984); Department of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, Inc., 434 So.2d 879, 882 (Fla. 1983); <u>Carson v. Miller</u>, 370 So.2d 10, 11 (Fla.1979); <u>State ex rel.</u> West v. Gray, 74 So.2d 114, 116 (Fla. 1954); Wilson v. <u>Crews</u>, 160 Fla. 169, 175, 34 So.2d 114, 118 (1948); <u>City</u> of Jacksonville v. Continental Can Co., 113 Fla. 168, 171-73, 151 So. 488, 489-90 (1933); Van Pelt v. Hilliard, 75 Fla. 792, 798, 78 So. 693, 694 (1918). As we recently explained:

Florida case law contains a plethora of rules and extrinsic aids to guide courts in their efforts to discern legislative intent from ambiguously worded statutes. However, '[w]hen the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning.' It has also been accurately stated that courts of this state are 'without power to construe an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or limit, its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications. To do so would be an abrogation of legislative power.' Holly, 450 So.2d at 219 (citations omitted, emphasis added).

Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Lopez, 531 So.2d 946, 948-49 (Fla 1988) (footnote omitted). However, we have also stressed that we will not give a statute 'a literal interpretation [that] would produce 'an unreasonable or ridiculous conclusion.' Perkins v. State, 682 So.2d 1083,

1085 (Fla. 1996) (quoting Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984)). (*Id.* at 382, 383).

The history of the act, the evil to be corrected, the purpose of the enactment and the existing laws on the same subject are all factors to be considered in discerning legislative intent. State Board of Accountancy v. Webb, 51 So.2d 296 (Fla. 1951). Another important principle of statutory construction in the context of this case is that quoted in Hiers v Mitchell, 95Fla. 345, 116 So. 81 (Fla. 1928)

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