SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-286

BAY ANESTHESIA, INC.

Petitioner,

VS.

DARLENE ALDRICH AND MICHAEL CONIGLIO AS CO-PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVES OF THE ESTATE OF WILLIAM E. RODDENBERRY, JR., ON BEHALF OF THE ESTATE AND SURVIVORS,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIRST DISTRICT CASE NOS. 1D01-4042 AND 1D01-4079

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

never argued to the contrary until rehearing in the district court.

Finally, section 768.13(2)(b)1. does not violate the equal protection clause merely because it excludes health care providers who are not physicians, hospitals or hospital employees. Physicians and hospitals play the most significant role in our health care system and were the entities most affected by exorbitant medical malpractice insurance premiums which the subject legislation attempted to address. These distinctions provide a rational basis for limiting the statute's "reckless disregard" standard to physicians, hospitals and hospital employees.

II. APPORTIONMENT OF FAULT TO ORIGINAL TORTFEASORS

Based on decisions from this court and several district courts of appeal, apportionment of fault based on section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes (1997), is limited to cases involving joint tortfeasors. Under the common law rule which still prevails in Florida, a tortfeasor who causes the initial injury and a subsequent medical provider who aggravates the injury by malpractice are not joint tortfeasors. Thus, the courts below correctly determined that Bay could not apportion fault pursuant to section 768.81(3) to the persons or entities allegedly responsible for Roddenberry's industrial accident.

III. DR. MONZINGO'S EXPERT TESTIMONY

For several reasons, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing to allow Bay's burn injury specialist, Dr. Monzingo, to testify on the issue of survivability of Roddenberry's burn injuries. First, Bay called Dr. Monzingo to testify immediately after it presented the testimony of another burn injury specialist with comparable qualifications, Dr. Luterman, who was prepared to express opinions on the survivability issue identical to Dr. Monzingo's proffered opinions. Bay, however, did not solicit Dr. Luterman's specific opinion about survivability but, instead, called Dr. Monzingo for that purpose, apparently attempting to enhance the defense's numerical advantage in burn injury experts from 2-1 to 3-1. The trial court justifiably barred Dr. Monzingo's testimony under those circumstances. Further supporting the trial court's ruling, Jackson Hospital's burn injury specialist with similar qualifications, Dr.

Tompkins, had already testified on the survivability issue, and his opinion was identical to Dr. Monzingo's proffered opinion and Dr. Luterman's opinion (had he been asked). Thus, Dr. Monzingo's proffered testimony was cumulative and repetitive. Finally, because Dr. Tompkins' opinion was identical to Dr. Monzingo's proffered opinion, and because several other defense experts testified that Roddenberry died from his burn injuries rather than the esophageal intubation, any error in excluding Dr. Monzingo's testimony on the survivability issue was harmless.

IV. APPORTIONMENT OF FAULT TO EXONERATED PARTY

A party cannot apportion fault under section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, to another party whose fault, if any, did not contribute to plaintiff's injuries and resulting damages. Because the district court below determined, as a matter of law, that Dr. Griffin's conduct (whether reckless disregard, negligence or otherwise) did not cause Roddenberry's death, it correctly held that Bay could not apportion fault to Dr. Griffin's employer, Jackson Hospital, and therefore Bay is responsible for 100 percent of plaintiffs' damages.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The court's jurisdiction in this case is based on a question of great public importance certified by the district court. Certified questions to the Supreme Court of Florida should be reserved for those exceptional cases which generate recurring legal issues of significant statewide impact. See Philip J. Padovano, Florida Appellate Practice § 3.11 at 54-55 (2003 ed.). Although the application of section

768.13(2)(b)1., Florida Statutes, to non-physician contract health care providers presents a question not previously decided by any reported decisions, the issue does not, in respondents' opinion, address a widespread, recurring problem. See Raoul G. Cantero, III, Certifying Questions to The Florida Supreme Court: What's So Important?, 7 The Record 1, 6 (Dec. 1998) ("Indeed, that a case presents an issue of first impression in this state would not in itself establish a question of great public importance. One can think of many esoteric questions, of no particular relevance in other cases, that no Florida court has decided."). In fact, the subject amendment to section 768.13(2)(b)1. has been in effect for 15 years³ with only one other reported case discussing the health care providers covered by the statute. See Knox v. Adventist Health Systems/Sunbelt, Inc., 817 So. 2d 961 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) (holding that section 768.13(2)(b)1. does not apply to paramedics employed by a hospital for emergency medical services rendered outside the hospital emergency room). Additionally, the district court decided this case by following firmly-engrained principles of statutory construction governing the interpretation of plainly-worded legislative enactments. Any change in unambiguous statutory language should come from the legislature rather than the courts through the vehicle of a certified question. See Young v. St. Vincent's Medical Center, Inc., 653 So. 2d 499, 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995) (Webster, J., dissenting), approved, 673 So. 2d 482 (Fla. 1996); Fisel v. Wynns, 650 So. 2d 46, 52 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994) (Cobb, J., dissenting), approved, 667 So. 2d

³ <u>See</u> Ch. 88-1, § 46, Laws of Fla.

761 (Fla. 1996). For these reasons, respondents respectfully urge this court to decline review because the question certified by the district court does not raise an issue of great public importance sufficient to invoke this court's jurisdiction.

In the event this court accepts jurisdiction based on the certified question, respondents urge this court to decline review of the three unrelated issues raised by Bay, particularly the second and third issues which were not mentioned in the district court opinion. See Beach v. Great Western Bank, 692 So. 2d 146, 153 (Fla. 1997) ("We decline to address the other issues raised by the Beaches which were neither in the district court's opinion nor within the scope of the certified question.").

ARGUMENT

I. SECTION 768.13(2)(b)1., FLORIDA STATUTES (Certified Question)

Standard of Review

As the district court correctly observed, the interpretation of statutes presents a question of law subject to de novo review. See Jackson County, 835 So. 2d at 329. See generally Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000) ("[T]he standard of review for a pure question of law is de novo.").

Discussion

Section 768.13(2)(b)1., Florida Statutes (1997), establishes a "reckless disregard" standard of care in medical malpractice actions involving emergency room treatment rendered in good faith by "[a]ny hospital licensed under chapter 395, any employee of such hospital working in a clinical area within the facility and providing patient care, and any person licensed to practice medicine." Bay contends that the courts below erred by failing to apply the reckless disregard standard to its CRNA, Teresa Cruce, arguing that Cruce, although employed by Bay and not by Jackson Hospital, was a hospital "employee" or a "person licensed to practice medicine" for purposes of the statute. For the reasons that follow, the courts below correctly determined that section 768.13(2)(b)1. did not apply to Nurse Cruce under the facts of this case and the certified question should be answered in the negative.

A. Based on clear and unambiguous language, section 768.13(2)(b)1., Florida Statutes, does not apply to non-physician health care providers employed by independent contractors.

"It is well settled that legislative intent is the polestar that guides a court's statutory construction analysis." Florida Convalescent Centers v. Somberg, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S122, S123 (Fla. Feb. 6, 2003). "The Legislature's intent must be determined primarily from the language of the statute." Rollins v. Pizzarelli, 761 So. 2d 294, 297 (Fla. 2000). "[W]hen the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning." Holly v. Auld, 450 So. 2d 217, 219 (Fla. 1984) (quoting A.R. Douglass, Inc. v. McRainey, 102 Fla. 1141, 1144, 137 So. 157, 159 (1931)). Here, section 768.13(2)(b)1. unambiguously limits its application to licensed hospitals, hospital employees and persons licensed to practice medicine and leaves no room for a more expansive interpretation to cover non-physician independent contractors. Because Nurse Cruce was not a member of any of the classes of health care providers enumerated by the statute, neither she nor her vicariously liable employer was entitled to the statute's limited immunity. See Jackson County, 835 So. 2d at 330 ("Because section 768.13(2)(b)1. clearly and unambiguously immunizes only hospitals licensed under chapter 395, employees of such hospitals working in a clinical area within the facility, and physicians, we are bound to follow the plain and obvious meaning of the statute."); Knox, 817 So. 2d at 962 (finding that section 768.13(2)(b)1. "is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning ").

Although the statute under scrutiny unambiguously excludes Nurse Cruce

without resort to extrinsic rules of statutory construction, two such rules bolster the district court's interpretation. First, "[i]t is a rule of statutory construction that a statute in derogation of the common law must be strictly construed." Ady v. American Honda Fin. Corp., 675 So. 2d 577, 581 (Fla. 1996). "A court will presume that such a statute was not intended to alter the common law other than by what was clearly and plainly specified in the statute." Id. By imposing a more stringent "reckless disregard" standard of care, section 768.13(2)(b)1., Florida Statutes, alters plaintiffs' common law right to sue for damages in tort based on negligence. Therefore, this court should presume that the legislature did not intend to alter the common law rule of negligence except for actions against the persons and organizations "clearly and plainly specified in the statute," namely, licensed hospitals and their employees and persons licensed to practice medicine.

Second, the district court's construction of section 768.13(2)(b)1. also is supported by the well-settled principle that when "a statute specifically enumerates those persons to be covered, ordinarily the statute will be construed as excluding from its operation all those other persons not expressly mentioned." Zopf v. Singletary, 686 So. 2d 680, 681-82 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). See also Thayer v. State, 335 So. 2d 815, 817 (Fla. 1976) ("It is, of course, a general principle of statutory construction that the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another; expressio unius est exclusio alterius. Hence, where a statute enumerates the things on which it is to operate, or forbids certain things, it is ordinarily to be construed as excluding from its operation

all those not expressly mentioned.").

This principle was applied in <u>Finkelstein v. North Broward Hosp. Dist.</u>, 484 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 1986), where this court construed now-repealed section 768.56, Florida Statutes, which authorized prevailing party attorney's fees in medical malpractice actions involving "any medical or osteopathic physicians, podiatrist, hospital or health maintenance organization." <u>Finkelstein</u>, 484 So. 2d at 1243. One of the unsuccessful defendants in a medical malpractice action, Nurse Poore, contended that the trial court lacked authority to assess attorney's fees against her because nurses were not among the health care professionals enumerated by this statute. This court agreed based on the following analysis:

Nurse Poore is not a medical or osteopathic physician, a podiatrist, a hospital or a health maintenance organization. Therefore, the trial court erred in assessing attorney's fees against Nurse Poore because she is not a member of any of the classes of persons enumerated in section 768.56.

The principle that the mention of one thing in a statute implies the exclusion of another, <u>Thayer v. State</u>, 335 So. 2d 815 (Fla. 1976), coupled with the requirement that statutes awarding attorney's fees must be strictly construed, <u>Roberts v. Carter</u>, 350 So. 2d 78 (Fla. 1977), mandates reversal of the trial court's order assessing attorney's fees against Nurse Poore.

Finkelstein, 484 So. 2d at 1243. This analysis applies at bar with equal force.

B. Bay Anesthesia and Nurse Cruce were independent contractors, not hospital "employees."

Applying section 768.13(2)(b)1. to the facts of this case, the record indicates without dispute that Bay's employee, Nurse Cruce, was not a hospital "employee" as

contemplated by the statute because she retained her status as an independent contractor. This conclusion is supported both by the contract between Bay and Jackson Hospital and by the relationship between Cruce and Dr. Griffin in the clinical setting.

"The standard for determining whether an agent is an independent contractor is the degree of control exercised by the employer or owner over the agent. More particularly, it is the right of control, and not actual control, which determines the relationship between the parties." Villazon v. Prudential Health Care Plan, Inc., 28 Fla. L. Weekly S267, S270 (Fla. Mar. 27, 2003) (quoting Nazworth v. Swire Fla., Inc., 486 So. 2d 637, 638 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986)) (emphasis the court's). "This Court has held that the right to control depends upon the terms of the employment contract." Stoll v. Noel, 694 So. 2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1997). Thus, when determining a person's status as an independent contractor or employee, "courts should initially look to the agreement between the parties, if there is one, and honor that agreement, unless other provisions of the agreement, or the parties' actual practice, demonstrate that it is not a valid indicator of status." Keith v. News & Sun Sentinel Co., 667 So. 2d 167, 171 (Fla. 1995). When the contract plainly disavows an employer-employee relationship, the court should respect the parties' chosen legal status. See Mingo v. ARA Health Services, Inc., 638 So. 2d 85, 86 (Fla. 2d DCA) (corporation which contracted with Sheriff to provide medical services at the county jail was not entitled to sovereign immunity when contract provided that the corporation was an independent contractor

and not an employee or agent of the Sheriff), rev. denied, 645 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1994).

In this case, Bay unquestionably retained the right to control the employment-related activities of its anesthetists under its Anesthesia Services Agreement with Jackson Hospital. In this respect, the contract explicitly provides:

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Hospital will not have or exercise control over the manner in which the medical duties of the Anesthetists or anyone providing services under this Agreement are performed as would jeopardize the status of the Corporation [Bay] as an independent contractor.

The Corporation [Bay] will be fully responsible for performing or assuring that any Anesthetist performs professional services in compliance with the provisions of this Agreement.

(Plaintiffs' Exh. 65 at 2-3, 8) (Appendix at Tab 2). The agreement further recites that Bay is an independent contractor and that the nurse anesthetists employed by Bay to fulfill the contract requirements "shall not act or hold themselves out to third parties as a partner, employee, or agent of the Hospital in the provision of patient services under this Agreement." (Plaintiffs' Exh. 65 at 6). In addition, the contract includes several other provisions confirming the independent contract relationship that existed between Jackson Hospital and Bay:

- _ Bay, not Jackson Hospital, scheduled the work hours for its personnel assigned to the hospital's anesthesia department. (Plaintiffs' Exh. 65 at 3).
- _ Bay, not Jackson Hospital, had the obligation to conduct and professionally staff the hospital's anesthesia department. (Plaintiffs' Exh. 65 at 4).

- _ Bay, not Jackson Hospital, was required to obtain professional liability insurance for its nurse anesthetists. (Plaintiffs' Exh. 65 at 4).
- _ Bay agreed to indemnify and hold Jackson Hospital harmless from any liability caused by Bay's negligence or intentional acts. (Plaintiffs' Exh. 65 at 12).

In addition to the contract, prevailing case law demonstrates that Bay and Nurse Cruce retained their status as independent contractors even though Dr. Griffin accepted responsibility for Roddenberry's intubation as "captain" of the emergency room team. In <u>Vargas v. Dulzaides</u>, 520 So. 2d 306, 307-08 (Fla. 3d DCA), <u>rev. denied</u>, 528 So. 2d 1184 (Fla. 1988), the court summarized the law on this point as follows:

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